### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 86,249

FILED

SID J. WHITE

MARSHALL LEE GORE,

Appellant,

SEP 30 1997

-versus-

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By
Chief Deputy Clerk

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT OF FLORIDA IN AND FOR DADE COUNTY

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LAW OFFICES OF JOHN H. LIPINSKI MARIA BREA LIPINSKI 1455 N.W. 14 STREET MIAMI, FLORIDA 33125 (305) 324-6376

Counsel for Appel lant

LAW OFFICE OF ANTHONY **GENOVA** 444 Brickell **Avenue** Suite 711 Miami, Florida 22131

###

### INTRODUCTION

The appellant was the defendant and the appellee the prosecution, State of Florida, in the lower court, The parties will be referred to as they stood in the trial court, The record on appeal will be referred to by the letter "R". The trial transcripts will be referred to by the letter "T". All emphasis is added unless otherwise indicated.

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Marshall Gore was indicated on one count **of** First Degree Murder and one Count of Armed Robbery, in **violation** of **F.S. 782.04(1)** and 812.13, respectively (R. 103).

Exparte Order to Appoint Defense Expert was filed May 3, 1990 (R. 20-21).

Order Appointing Defense Expert was filed May 9, 1991 (R. 29-30).

Notice of Intent to Rely on Evidence of Other Crimes, Wrongs, or Acts was filed October 30, 1991 (R. 44).

Motion to Compel and Amended Motion to Compel were filed November 13 and 21, 1991, respectively (R. 45-48).

Notice of Intent to Rely on Evidence of Other Crimes, Wrongs, or Acts was filed February 24, 1992 (R. 59).

Defendant's Motion to Preclude the State of Florida From Seeking the Death Penalty or Alternative Relief Based on the State's Failure to Provide Adequate Resources was filed November 3, 1992 (R. 83-85).

Notice of Interlocutory Appeal was filed May 5, 1995 (R. 169).

Requested Jury Instructions Regarding Circumstantial Evidence
was filed May 10, 1995 (R. 234).

Judgment of Guilty as charged was filed May 11, 1995 (R. 238-239).

Defendant's Sentencing Memorandum was filed June 19, 1995 (R. 325-328).

Sentence as to Count I of the Indictment was filed June 30,

1995 sentencing Marshall Gore to the death Penalty (R.332-340).

Three Sentencing Memorandums were filed; one on June 30, 1995,
and two on July 3, 1995 (R. 332-340, 342-352, 353-356).

Notice of Appeal was filed July 26, 1995 (R. 357-358).

This appeal fallows.

è

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

At Marshall Gore's trial, the following testimony, and facts ware presented:

Marshall Gore was offered a plea wherein the State offered him one life term to be served concurrently with the first of five life terms arising from the 1988 case with credit for the seven years served by Mr. Gore with the State's closing out all remaining cases against him (T. 215).

The plea offer was relayed to Gore who rejected same (T. 216).

During voir dire, when questioning prospective Juror Demery, the State gave specific examples of what would constitute first degree murder and asked the jury panel if "anyone disagreed with it" (T. 287-289).

Gore informed the court that he disagreed with the jury Strikes that his counsel had been making thusfar (T. 363).

The prosecution moved to back strike Juror Torres and Gore's counsel Objected to the strike arguing that the State was striking Juror Torres on the basis of race (T. 371). The court granted the State's motion to strike Juror Torres (T. 371).

Gore's counsel requested that the jury panel be sequestered which motion was denied (T. 375).

Gore's counsel moved for a continuance based on the fact that Gore had not received any of his legal materials and as a result would be unable to assist counsel in the preparation of cross-examination of the witnesses (T. 384). The court denied the motion (T. 384).

At that point, Gore informed the court that there was a conflict; however, the court ignored Gore's statement (T. 385).

Officer Norman Shipes, Metro-Dade Police Department, testified for the State that on March 16, 1988, while driving through the area of S.W. 244th Street and S.W. 214th Avenue, Dade County, he saw a blue tarpaulin laying just off the edge of the road IT. 396-399). The witness stopped his car by the blue tarp, and lifted a corner of it at which time he saw what appeared to be the leg of a deceased white female (T. 400).

Dr. Roger Mittleman, Associate Medical Examiner fur Dade County, testified that on March 16, 1988, he responded to the scene out on S.W. 244th Street and S.W. 214th Place (T. 407). The victim's body was found underneath the blue tarp (T. 407). A belt was wrapped around the victim's neck (T. 410). The victim was nude (T. 412); there was a stab wound in the center of her chest, and another smaller stab wound next to the first one (T. 413). Through dental records, the victim was identified as Robyn Novick (T. 417-418). The victim was strangled to death (T. 421).

Linda Williams testified on behalf of the State that she and her husband went to the Redlands Tavern on the evening of March 11, 1988 (T. 438). On that evening, she saw a white female very nicely dressed who entered the tavern wearing a black outfit with a wide belt (T. 439). The witness noticed that the female was out of place in that bar and that the female was nat the type of customer the witness had usually seen in that bar (T. 438-439). After the female left the bar, the witness and her husband left also and saw the female get into a yellow Corvette eantaining a white male sitting On the passenger's side of the car (T. 441). The witness did not see the female or the male in the bar again after that evening (T. 441).

In a **photo** lineup, the witness identified a man who **resembled** the man she saw in the **Corvette** that night (T. 444). The witness **had had a couple of drinks** on the evening in **question** so that she **was** unable **to** positively identify **Gore** as the man she saw March 16, 1988 (T. 447).

David Restrepo testified for the State that in March, 1988, he lived in Kendall, Florida (T. 452). At the time, the witness knew Marshall Gore as Tony Gore (T. 243). He identified the defendant as the man he knew as Tony Gore (T. 452).

on the morning of March 12, 1988, Gore came to the witness' house in the early morning hours; Gore was driving a yellow Corvette (T. 454). Prior to this date, the witness had only seen Gore drive a black Mustang (T. 453). The car's license plate said,

"Robin" on it (T. 455). Gore told the witness that Gore's girlfriend hnd lent him the car (T. 458).

Gore drove the witness to a strip club (T. 457). The witness waited for Gore in the car (T. 458). After that, while driving elsewhere, Gore told the witness that he wanted to change his name to Robyn (T. 458). The two men then went to a Food Spat (T. 459). After leaving the Food Spot, Gore lost control of the car; the car flipped over several times and the witness was thrown out of the car (T. 459). The men noticed that two of the car's tires where flat, and Gore parked the car (T. 462). While exiting the car, Gore grabbed a brown paper bag. At that point, he told the witness that the car was stolen (T. 462).

As the men were running away **from** the car, **Gore** told the witness that he thought he may have left some jewelry in the car (T. 465).

At this point, the prosecutor and defense counsel discussed with the court at **sidebar** the fact that a witness walked out of the **courtroom** and made a comment to Gore "nice smile" (T. 480). The court decided that the jury had not heard this comment,.

Jessie Casanova testified for the State that she lived at 21420 S.W 140th Street, South Dade (T. 485). In February, 1988, a person began living with her, her mother and her mother's friend, Rosa (T. 484). The witness identified the person who lived with her family as Marshall Gore known to her then as Marty (T. 485). Gore asked her to refer to him as Tony whenever they were outside of the house (T. 485).

During the month of February, 1988, Gore drove a black Mustanq (T. 487). On March 11th, 1988, when Gore left the house, he left in a taxi (T. 489). Later, during the early morning hours of March 12, 1988, Gore tapped on the witness' window and retrieved a black bag which he took with him (T. 491). Gore was driving a light-colored Corvette (T. 491).

When Gore returned to the house later that **same** date, March 12, 1988, he arrived in a taxi (T. 492). The witness asked about the Corvette and Gore told that he was helping a female friend out and that he had had an accident with the car (T. 493).

Luis Toledo, Metro-Dade Police Department, Crime Scene Bureau, identified the photos he had taken at the crime Scene (T. 497).

Mark C. Joy testified that he worked during the months of February and March, 1988 at the Organ Grinder Bar (T. 499). In the early hours of March 12, 1988, the witness saw Gore drive up in a yellow car bearing the license plate with the name "Robyn" (T. 501). Someone else was in the car: however, the witness could not identify whether it was a male or female (T. 501).

Defense counsel informed the court that he was having a conflict with Gore because Gore wanted defense counsel to ask additional questions to open the door to other lines of questioning (T. 594).

James Avery, former City of Coral Gables Police Department, testified for the State that on the morning of March 12, 1988, --while on patrol, he heard a cur crash (T. 5131. When he investigated, he found a yellow corvette, with two blown-out tires,

and license tag bearing the name, "Robyn" (T. 515). Inside the car, the witness found credit cards, and a driver's license in the name of Robyn G. Novick and a gold cigarette case with initials RGN (T. 517).

Robert Rnbkin, former City of Coral Gables Police Department, testified that on March 12, 1988, he examined a yellow Corvette bearing license plate "Robyn" (T. 524). Inside the car, the witness found a piece of paper titled Vower of Attorney" signed in two places by Marshall Lee Gore (T. 527).

Frank McKee testified for the State that In March, 1988, he knew Marshall. Lee Gore (T. 531). The witness saw Gore on March 13, 1988 when Gore came by the witness' house between the hours of 11:00 P.M. and Midnight (T. 531-532). Gore told the witness that the police were looking for him and the witness told Gore that he could not stay at the witness' house (T. 532).

that he (Gore) had had an accident with the car and that he (Gore) had wrecked it (T. 533). Gore told the witness that his friend, Dave, may have broken his collar bone (T. 533). Gore left the witness' house in a taxi (T. 533).

Mike Decora, Metro Dade Police Detective, Homicide Division, testified that in 1988, Jessie Casanova gave him a key (T. 545). The key was a GM key that fit the ignition, the hatchback, and the doors of the yellow Corvette (T. 547).

Linda Williams identified the woman she saw at the bar On March 13, 1988 and was not able to positively identify the man she saw: as a result of a photo lineup, Linda Williams told the witness that the photo of the man resembled the man who met and left the bar with the ricely-dressed woman she had seen that night (T. 554).

Michelle T. Hammon testified that in 1988 she was living in Cleveland, Tennessee (T. 559). The witness knew Susan Marie Roarke who drove a black Mustang (T. 561). On January 30, 1988, Susan Marie Roarke arrived at the witness' house in her black Mustang with a male named Tony (T. 561-562). The witness identified Gore as the man she met that night introduced to her as Tony (T. 562). Susan Marie Roarke and Tony left the witness' together (T. 563). The witness never saw Ms, Roarke again (T. 563).

Defense counsel made a continuing objection to all testimony regarding previous crimes (T. \$66).

Department. on March 14th, 1988, the witness investigated a car accident that occurred on Coral Way, Miami, involving a black Mustang which belonged to someone living in Tennessee (T. 568). The person driving the black Mustang did not remain on the scene (T. 568). Investigation of the owner of the car revealed that the car was registered to Susan Roarke (T. 569). Defense counsel moved to strike the previous witness's testimony; the court denied the motion (T. 571).

Maples, forensic anthropologist from William University of Florida, testified that in 1988, he examined remains from Columbia County, Florida, which were brought to him for investigation (T. 575-576). The witness received the Medical Examiners Peport, dental records and some investigative reports which the witness examine and from which he identified the remains as those belonging to person once known as Sudan Marie Roarke (T. 579). The left side of the front of the torso was missing and the area around the right breast was missing (T, 582). The witness stated that it appeared that one or more wounds on the left aide of the chest occurred, and that there was a defect on the lower aspect of the skull just to the right of the midline caused by the tip of a sharp implement (T. 583). From the evidence he received, the witness concluded that the victim died as the result of a knife wound inflicted the base of the skull which cut the spinal card (T. 586).

At the beginning of the next trial day, Gore complained to the court that ha was missing an **entire** box of depositions (T. 604).

Capita 1 Nei 1 Nydham, Columbia county Sheriff's Office, testified that an April 2nd, 1980, he was in charge of the investigation regarding the human remains found in a heavily wooded area (T. 606). The body found in this heavily wooded area was that of Susan Roarke (T. 610, 613). A grayish bandhad been tied around

the left arm IT. 610). The witness determined that the black Mustang belonging to Susan Raarke had been ticketed in Florida (T. 614).

On cross-examination, it was established that the witness found no evidence to indicate that Gore had been in Columbia County, Florida, nor that the hair found clenched in Susan Roarke's fist belonged to Gore, nor that the fingerprints found on a pack of Marlboro cigarettes belonged to Gore (T. 616-637). No evidence was found linking Gore to the crime scene (T. 618).

Tina Colaris testified that she lived in Florida in March, 1988 (T. 624). Prior to March, 1988 the witness had met a man called Tony who she identified as Gore (T. 624-625). On the evening of March 14, 1988 Gore contacted the witness and told her that his Corvette had broken down and that he needed a lift to pick up another car from a friend (T.626).

When the witness picked up Gore, he was carrying a tote bag with him (T. 626). she took Gore to the Aventura area off Biscayne Boulevard (T. 628). The witness stopped at a gas station in order for Gore to make a telephone call (T. 629). Gore directed the witness to drive him to an unpopulated construction site in the Aventura area IT. 630). Gore exited the car to urinate while the witness waited and when he returned, Gore put a knife to the witness' stomach and told her to get into the passenger's seat (T. 6311. Gore drove the car keeping the witness with her head down so that she could not see where they were going (T. 632).

When Gore stopped the car, he told the witness to take off her pants: later the witness was told to take off her shirt (T. 633, 634). The witness was forced to have sex with Gore (T. 634). Later, Gore pulled the witness out of the Car, hit her with a brick and choked her until she became unconscious (T. 635). When she regained consciousness, the witness saw that her car was gone (T. 635).

The witness was not able to remember being stabbed (T. 643). She had stab wounds in the neck and other stab wounds inflicted to the right of her right shoulder (T. 644).

On cross-examination, it was established that the witness could not conclusively say who stabbed her (T. 652). She was unable to identify the crime scene on her own (T. 653). After she regained consciousness, the witness discovered that her jewelry was gone (T. 654). Later, a detective showed her her jewelry (T. 661).

Detective Louis Pasaro, Metro-Dade Police Department, testified that he investigated the Tina Calaris case (T. 664). He stated that Tina Colaris was found within a few blocks of the area where Robyn Novick's body was found (T. 667). He stated that the keys received from Jessie Casanova were the keys that fit Susan Roarke's Mustang (T. 673).

The witness showed a photo lineup to **Tina Colaris**; **she** signed and dated **the** picture **of** the man who had attacked her (T. 677). The jewelry **belonging** to **Tina Colaris**was **found** in a pawn shop an

Bird Road IT. 681). The seller identification showed that Marshall Gore pawned the jewelry (T. 683). Gore's prints were not on the jewelry (T. 688).

sergeant David Simmons, Metro-Dade Police Department, testified that on March 24, 1988, Gore was brought to the police station (T. 712).

Defense moved for mistrial (T. 714).

The witness testified that he read Gore his Miranda rights (T. 719). The witness stated that Gore refused to sign any documents (T. 720, 721, 722).

Gore told the witness that he did know Susan Raarke (T. 729).

Gore denied knowing and did not remember Tina Colaris or her Son,

Jimmy (T. 732). Gore denied going to the Cashmar Pawn Shop (T. 730).

Gore denied ever having been in any Corvette Or any color (T. 738). Gore never confess to the crime (T. 772).

The prosecution rested its case,

Ana Fernandez White testified for the defense that she knew Marshall Gore because she went to school with Gore's sisters (T. 802). The witness worked for Gore; she kept track of messages and the "girls" (T. 806). part of her job was to tell Gore in what hotels and rooms these girls were (T, 807).

The witness metTina Colaris several times and babysat forher twice (T. 807, 808). The witness went to Gore's father's ranch with Tina where Gore took some pictures of Tina (T. 809). The witness had a business card of Gore's business called "The

Exchange" which had the names of 25-30 girls on the back (T. 809). Tina Colaris was one of the names that appeared on the back of the business card (T. 809). Gore took sexually-oriented photos of Tina Colaris (T. 810). she met Robyn Novick who also went by the name "Gail" ten to 15 times (T. 811).

The witness testified that she went to a party on Valentines
Day in 1989 with Gore, Susan Roarke and Pauline Johnson: they
worked for Gore (T. 812). When they left the party, Gore was
driving: shortly thereafter, the group was involved in a car
accident (T. 815). Gore told the witness to get out of the car and
leave before the police arrived (T. 815). The witness was told
that the car belonged to Susan Roarke (T. 815). After the
accident, the group went to someone's house and they picked up a
black Mustana anddropped the witness off at home (T. 816).

When the witness babysat for **Tina** Colaris, **Tina** called her baby by different names; the one that the witness remembered was Jimmy IT. 2171. According to the witness, Robyn Novick drove two different cars; one was a business-type car, and the other was a yellow Corvette (T. 818).

Around the time of the Calle Ocho Festival in 1988, the witnesssaw Gore, Tina Colaris, Robyn Novick together at the Organ Grinder strip club (T. 819). In 1988, Tina Colaris came to the witness' house with a police officer and took some pictures that were there (T. 724).

Tima Colaris told the witness that she used the pictures to qet money from Channel Four News; they had given her the best offer (T. 826).

The witness testified that it was common for the qirls that worked for Gore to change their appearance (T. 828).

The trial court excluded the photo of a ring appearing to match the ring that was taken from Ms. Colaris; nor would the court admit Gore's business card as well as were two Affidavits Of Ana Fernandez (T. 833, 834, 835).

Robyn Novick and Marshall Gore exchanged czars on one occasion that the witness could recall (T. 844).

Gore informed the court that he wanted to represent himself (T. 907). The trial court held that Gore was not competent to represent himself (T. 912).

Goreinformed the court that he felt that he was being forced to testify on his behalf even though he did not want to testify (T. 913). After +he trial court inquired into Gore's giving testimony, Gore testified on his own behalf (T. 919).

Marshall Gore testified on his behalf (T. 920). He **stated** that he met **Robyn** Navick in **1981** and became **good** friends with her (T. 921, 923). He stated that **Robyn** Navick worked for a **finance** company and as a result, she drove a lot of cars (T. 927).

Gore met Ana Fernandez in 1981 or 1982; An8 was friends with Gore's sisters (T. 926). Ana worked for the witness (Gore) transcribing records (T. 926). At the time Gore met Ana Fernandez,

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