MARSHALL LEE GORE,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CASE NO. 86,249

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA

# ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

BARBARA J. YATES ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 293237

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 Ext. 4584

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

THE COURT: Objection overruled.

A. She was being groomed.

BY MR. ROSENBERG:

Q. She was being groomed by you? So part of that job, by you maybe being an LD, is having a little sex with her first, right?

A. If I'm an LD, I can't have sex, can I.

Q. Maybe you didn't. She's only 13. How do you know she even knows what sex is, right? Let's go on.

(T6 1152-54).

BY MR. ROSENBERG:

Q. Did you hear, see Maria Dominguez just prior to the accident you had in the Mustang on February of 1988?

A. I said I'm not going to make any statements whatsoever to you in relation to any other criminal cases, okay.

Q. You don't want to talk about any other cases?

A. I have a right not to answer that and I take it --

MR. GENOVA: Judge, I don't believe it's appropriate to say, by the Prosecutor, to say, you don't want to talk about your other cases.

THE DEFENDANT: He's trying to --

THE COURT: Objection is overruled.

THE DEFENDANT: -- use inflammatory argument to prejudice the Jury against me.

(T6 1158-60).

The questioning about having sex with a thirteen-year-old girl is troubling. In light of Gore's direct testimony that he was a pimp (e.g., T5 929) and that the girl's mother worked as a prostitute for him (T6 1057) and his cross-examination testimony that the girl was being groomed (T6 1154), it would appear that any error was harmless. As to Dominguez, Gore could have simply answered "no" to the first question. Instead, he, not the prosecutor, mentioned other criminal cases. Again, if any error occurred, it was harmless.

Contrary to Gore's allegation (initial brief at 62), the prosecutor did not tease Gore about his name.<sup>16</sup> The prosecutor's asking Gore what he wanted to be called was understandable in light of: the style of this case refers to Gore as "Marshall Lee Gore AKA, Anthony Carlucci, AKA Tony Carlucci;" defense counsel referred to Gore as "Marcel" (e.g., T5 802); Ana Fernandez testified that Gore went by "Marty," "Marshall," "Mars," and "Tony." No reversible error occurred.

The prosecutor did not comment improperly on Gore's occupations. (T6 1146). Besides claiming to be a dancer and cook

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> The prosecutor's first question on cross-examination was: "Should I call you Marty, Marshall, Marcel, Tony, Toby? What names should we call you today?" (T6 1142).

on cross-examination (T6 1146), Gore testified that he was: a construction worker (T5 929), a pimp (T5 929), a male prostitute (T5 930), and an extortionist. (T6 1138). Gore did not object to the prosecutor's question, and this claim has not been preserved for appeal. In any event, however, the question, if error, was harmless in light of Gore's other testimony.

The alleged racist remark (initial brief at 62) occurred in the following context while the prosecutor questioned Gore about Corolis:

> A. She went -- she went to my attorney, who was given to me by the State. She told her story to that attorney. He gave me his notes of that.

> > Q. What's his name?

A. Steven Potolsky.

Q. Oh, you mean he was a defense lawyer, not a prosecutor?

A. He was part of your team.

Q. Oh, okay. Everybody is out to get you?

A. That's why I fired him.

Q. The Mafia -- is it the Gambinis or the Gady (phonetic) family? Which one?

A. He was trying to cover Daniel Heller's involvement in this, okay. He was trying to cover all that.

Q. Let's talk about --

A. He was tying to cover the semitic influence.

Q. So it's sort of semitic influence? Potolsky is what? What's Mr. Potolsky? Jewish? Is that your claim?

A. Mr. Potolsky is Jewish. He called me an anti-Semitic puke when I was Jewish myself at the time.

Q. Maybe you are. I would imagine --

A. I was Jewish myself at the time, so I couldn't --

Q. Oh, Gore is a Jewish name? What did you have for Passover, a bunch of Matzo this year?

A. Listen to me. Listen to me.

MR. GENOVA: This is nothing more than badgering.

MR. ROSENBERG: No, it's not.

MR. GENOVA: It's like to juveniles.

MR. ROSENBERG: No, Judge. I'm attempting to ask questions and -- you know, what I don't appreciate is Mr. Genova saying it's two juveniles. If he had any control over his client, he could answer a simple question of yes or no.

THE COURT: Okay. Ask a question, Mr. Rosenberg.

MR. GENOVA: Judge, I don't have control over him.

THE DEFENDANT: If he had control over me like you do by taking my evidence and my proof to prove all your witnesses lied, all the prior inconsistent statements and the false evidence you have admitted into this court -- (T6 1156-58). Gore did not make the same objection at trial that he makes now, so this claim has not been preserved. In light of all the testimony, however, any error was harmless.

The prosecutor did not improperly comment on appellant's character (initial brief at 64) by asking about insurance rates. The question came up as follows:

> Q. And let's look at Robyn Novick's Corvette for a moment. When you crashed that car, you also leave that scene, right?

> > A. Of course.

Q. Now --

A. Do you know what happens to a person's insurance when they get into an accident?

Q. Most likely --

A. My stuff was already costing me 7500 a year.

Q. I didn't realize how good a guy you were. You were concerned about their insurance rates. Is that your testimony?

A. No. I was concerned about my own.

(T6 1160-61). Gore did not object to the complained-about question. It was, however, a fair question in light of Gore's testimony.

Gore also complains that the prosecutor improperly commented on his credibility (initial brief at 62) and expressed his personal animosity toward Gore. (Initial brief at 63). The complainedabout statements occurred as follows:

- 34 -

BY MR. ROSENBERG:

Q. During that testimony, do you remember testifying about when you first met Tina Corolis?

A. I remember saying the first time I met her after I left federal prison or something like that, but yeah, that's what I was talking about. And if you look at my face, when you look at my face you'll see I'm angry with my attorney for asking me that question, and I tell him.

Q. You're right. I have a video of it, so we can look at your face and see what the question was.

A. Thank you.

Q. Because of course you knew her in `85?

A. Can we have Tina Corolis' face and how she laughed on the stand before through her testimony in that trial? Can we use that?

Q. Mr. Gore, you can use whatever you want. You've made up every other story.

A. Will you give it to us, please? I've been trying to get it from the federal courts, from you for the past seven or six years.

(T6 1149)

BY MR. ROSENBERG:

Q. I don't think I need to use anything, Mr. Gore.

A. Then why do you keep doing all these things you know are illegal and will cause reversal on this case if I do get convicted? Why would you do that? Just to obtain a conviction and hang my skin on the wall?

Q. Your claim is --

A. You're the only Prosecutor that keeps taking cases on me, you know, the only Prosecutor that keeps taking cases on one particular defendant. Normally your office knocks it around to other attorneys so they can all get a shot if there's more than one case. You've taken out a vendetta on me, okay, and why?

Q. Because I don't like people who kill women. How's that? You want to know why? Because I don't like people preying on women.

A. You want to hide how I got Mr. Heller out of the federal prison.

(T6 1159-60).

BY MR. ROSENBERG:

Q. Let's talk about Robyn Novick's yellow Corvette.

A. Why didn't you give us the evidence for this case for two years?

Why didn't you give us the evidence until one month before that trial when you knew that that trial wasn't going to be going?

Why didn't you give me my phone -- why didn't you release my telephone book?

Why did you rip out the seven pages you ripped out of my phone book?

Q. Why don't you go on for as long as you want?

A. Is there a reason you ripped those pages out?

Q. I don't ever remember ever seeing any of your stuff that you've made up from yesterday for four hours so far.

A. Your testimony isn't good unless you take the stand.

Q. I didn't kill three women, you did. You see, Mr. Gore, you killed women. That's why you're on the stand.

A. Your testimony isn't good unless you take the stand.

Q. I'm asking you questions.

A. I challenge you to take the stand.

Q. I didn't kill three women, you did. You see, Mr. Gore, you killed women. That's why you're on the stand.

A. And you're trying to kill me.

Q. I didn't kill anyone.

A. But you're trying to kill me.

Q. Well, you know what, you're right, I am, because somebody who does what you do deserves to die.

MR. ROSENBERG: I'm done.

THE DEFENDANT: You're done. I figured.

(T6 1161-62). Some of the prosecutor's comments are inartful, and it is unfortunate that he allowed Gore to goad him into making them. They were, however, fair comment when Gore's testimony is considered in its totality. The unobjected-to comments have not been preserved, and Gore has shown no abuse of discretion as to the others. <u>See Bryan</u>. Gore, himself, caused many of the comments and questions that he now complains about. He should not be allowed to profit from his misbehavior.

B. <u>Closing Argument</u>

- 37 -

Closing argument "must not be used in inflame the minds and passions of jurors." <u>Bertolotti v. State</u>, 476 So.2d 130, 134 (Fla. 1988). Rather, the purpose of such argument "is to review the evidence and explicate those inferences which may reasonably be drawn from the evidence." <u>Id</u>. To that end, wide latitude is allowed; counsel may advance all legitimate arguments and draw logical inferences from the evidence. <u>Bonifay v. State</u>, 680 So.2d 413 (Fla. 1996); <u>Breedlove v. State</u>, 413 So.2d 1 (Fla.), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 459 U.S. 882 (1983). Furthermore, a prosecutor "is the advocate for the State and has the duty, not only to present evidence in support of the charge, but likewise the duty to advocate with all his talent, vigor and persuasion, the acceptance by the jury of such evidence." <u>Robles v. State</u>, 210 So.2d 441 (Fla. 1968).

Gore's first complained-about comment (initial brief at 64) comes from the following portion of the prosecutor's initial argument:

> You listened to the evidence and you heard it. You must now evaluate all of it.

> You see, when I started with you I told you I have the burden of proof and I always have the burden of proff. But you see, now you consider all the evidence presented to you and decide whether I met not just the evidence I presented, but the evidence they presented, you see, because I'll make it really simple for you: If you believe he did not tell you the truth, that he made up a story, that's it, he's guilty of First Degree Murder --

MR. GENOVA: I'm going to object.

- 38 -

MR. ROSENBERG: -- because his testimony --

THE COURT: Objection is overruled.

MR. GENOVA: He doesn't have to prove his innocence.

THE COURT: Overruled.

MR. ROSENBERG: -- his testimony has nothing to do with proving innocence. His testimony is treated like every other witness in a case. You see, once you take the witness stand you are just like everybody else. And you know what? As a witness you have a responsibility to each and every one of you because, you see, as every person in this case, other than the Defendant, took the stand, what were they required to do for you? They were required to answer questions. They were required to answer cross examination questions of the Defense attorney, all except the Defendant. All except him.

(T6 1171-72). The prosecutor did not mistate the law. Instead, he merely submitted to the jury a conclusion that he argued the jury could draw from what occurred during the proceedings. This argument was not error. <u>Davis v. State</u>, 698 So.2d 1182 (Fla. 1997); <u>Whitney v. State</u>, 132 So.2d 599 (Fla. 1961).

The second part of this complained-about argument (initial brief at 64) comes from the prosecutor's final closing argument:

You know, instead of standing up here for the next however much time I have left, 25 minutes, and just talking about ridiculous statements which I don't want to anymore, okay, we've all listened to everything, I can't, I can't give you anything else that you haven't heard. I can't make this anymore simpler than it is, because that's what it is. It's simple and it comes down to this in simplicity: If you believe his story, he's not guilty. If you believe he's lying to you, he's guilty. It's that simple. And each one --

MR. GENOVA: Objection, Judge.

MR. ROSENBERG: -- that I spoke to --

THE COURT: Overruled.

MR. ROSENBERG: Each one when I spoke to you during voir dire said one thing to me, that you would use your common sense. And I'm not making anything up. Use it. Shouldn't take long. Shouldn't be hard. You all learned one thing: Don't let a scam artist scam us.

(T7 1236). During his closing argument, defense counsel stated:

Mark Joy was called and he confirmed that my client was at the Organ Grinder. He corroborates part of the Defendant's testimony.

The Defendant, this is one of the people that he threw the gauntlet down to Gary [Rosenberg] and said hey, you call Mark Joy, go ahead, call him back in rebuttal, he'll tell you about that white Mercedes and the three guys. But did they? Did they call any rebuttal witness?

(T7 1206-7). The prosecutor's complained-about comment occurred after he responded to the above-quoted defense argument. (T7 1235-36). The comment was, therefore, fair reply, not reversible error. Ferquson v. State, 417 So.2d 639 (Fla. 1982); Henderson v. State, 94 Fla. 318, 113 So. 689 (1927); Brown v. State, 420 So.2d 916 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982); Lynn v. State, 395 So.2d 621 (Fla. 1st DCA), review denied, 402 So.2d 611 (Fla. 1981); Pitts v. State, 307 So.2d 473 (Fla. 1st DCA), cert. dismissed, 423 U.S. 918 (1975); Broge v. <u>State</u>, 288 So.2d 280 (Fla. 4th DCA), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 295 So.2d 302 (Fla.), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 419 U.S. 845 (1974).

As his second area of complaints about the prosecutor's argument, Gore argues that the prosecutor improperly commented on his demeanor. (Initial brief at 65). In the first instance the proescuor interrupted his argument and asked: "Am I boring you, Mr. Gore?" (T6 1175). Commenting on a defendant's demeanor when he or she is not on the stand is improper. Although counsel objected to this question, he did not request a curative instruction, which is required to preserve the issue. <u>Rodriguez v. State</u>, 609 So.2d 493 (Fla. 1992), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 510 U.S. 830 (1993). Even if preserved, however, any error was harmless. <u>See Pope v. Wainwright</u>, 496 So.2d 798 (Fla. 1986).

The second complained-about instance arose as follows:

MR. ROSENBERG: So again whose picture isn't up there? The Defendant's.

THE DEFENDANT: Correct.

MR. ROSENBERG: Now -- I'm sorry? Maybe he wants to testify now, Judge. I'm not sure.

THE COURT: What happened?

MR. ROSENBERG: He sort of wants to answer "that's right" to what I'm saying.

THE DEFENDANT: No, I didn't.

THE COURT: Please refrain from responding to Counsel.

(T6 1182). Gore did not object, so this claim has not been preserved for review. <u>Gudinas v. State</u>, 693 So.2d 953, 959 (Fla.

- 41 -

1997); Kilgore v. State, 688 So.2d 895, 898 (Fla. 1996); Allen v. State, 662 So.2d 323, 331 (Fla. 1995), cert. denied, 116 S.Ct. 1326 (1996); Rose v. State, 461 So.2d 84, 86 (Fla. 1984), cert. denied, 471 U.S. 1143 (1985).

Gore next complains that the prosecutor ignored the court's pretrial ruling. (Initial brief at 65). The comment in total is:

Now, you have to remember here -- and I can really be quiet, because I'll tell you what, if you believe his story, there's nothing I can say to you because that's what you have to believe through this entire thing. You have to believe that he has a reasonable hypotheses for everything: They're escorts. They work for me. I give them to other men. Other men kill them. I just use their cars, you know. Well, when did you meet her, in '85? No, it's really '87. And when you took her car, why did you take her son? Well, he was really my son and I was saving him and that's why I left him locked up in a kitchen cabinet, because I was helping him.

MR. GENOVA: Objection.

THE COURT: Overruled.

(T7 1229-30). The state does not concede that the objection was specific enough to preserve this complaint for review. Even if preserved, however, this statement was a fair comment on the evidence.

As his last alleged error, Gore claims that the prosecutor improperly expressed his personal opinion. (Initial brief at 66). Gore did not object to the complained-about comment (T7 1228), however, and the claim is, therefore, procedurally barred. <u>Gudinas; Kilqore; Allen; Rose</u>. Gore has failed to demonstrate reversible error,  $^{17}$  and this issue should be denied.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> The cases that Gore relies on (initial brief at 64-66) are factually distinguishable and should not control this case.

#### ISSUE V

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